RECEIVED

Jan 08 2025

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000144
Case No. 2021-CP-26-07489

City of North Myrtle Beach,

Appellant,

v.

Sun TRS Ocean Club, LLC, Sun TRS
Carolina Pines, LLC, and Sun Carolina
Pines RV, LLC,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

/s/ Rhett D. Ricard

Cheryl D. Shoun (SC Bar No. 5092)

Rhett D. Ricard (SC Bar No. 102353)

MAYNARD NEXSEN, PC

205 King Street, Suite 400

Charleston, SC 29401

cshoun@maynardnexsen.com

rricard@maynardnexsen.com

(o): (843) 577-9440; (f): (843) 720-1777

January 8, 2025

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. In a zoning dispute involving a special exception residential amenity known as a cabana house, whether certain municipal ordinances regulating such use and activity—which does not involve the exchange of a good *or* service or the production, distribution, and consumption of commodities—constitute regulation of a noneconomic activity, implicating an conclusion similar to *United States v. Lopez*, 514 U.S. 549 (1995), and *United States v. Morrison*, 529 U.S. 598 (2000), rather than an economic one, implicating a conclusion similar to *Gonzales v. Raich*, 545 U.S. 1 (2005)?
- II. Whether one municipal ordinance requirement that a cabana house must be used by a project in North Myrtle Beach is “inextricably linked” with two other distinct municipal ordinance requirements that a cabana house must be (1) owned by a homeowner’s association and (2) maintained by a homeowner’s association and that a homeowner’s association shall be established for the project, such that all three ordinance requirements must be reviewed inseparably under a Dormant Commerce Clause analysis rather than reviewed under an independent and separate Dormant Commerce Clause analysis to preserve portions of ordinances that are constitutionally valid?
- III. Whether the municipality’s legitimate local purposes underlying its ordinances regulating cabana houses overcome even the strictest scrutiny applied under a Dormant Commerce Clause analysis?
- IV. Whether the Circuit Court’s Order is vague in that it does not expressly provide which specific words of the municipal ordinances at issue are deemed unconstitutional and for which the municipality is permanently enjoined from enforcing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION AND DEFENSES THEREIN

This appeal concerns the extent of Dormant Commerce Clause authority in striking down municipal ordinances as unconstitutional under the Dormant Commerce Clause. The Supreme Court of the United States has instructed the Dormant Commerce Clause “is not a *roving license* for [] courts to decide what activities are appropriate for state and local government to undertake, and what activities must be the province of private market competition.” *United Haulers Ass’n, Inc. v. Oneida-Herkimer Solid Waste Mgmt. Auth.*, 550 U.S. 330, 343 (2007) (emphasis added).

Without this Court’s intervention, the Circuit Court’s Order finding unconstitutional certain portions of zoning ordinances promulgated by Appellant, the City of North Myrtle Beach (“**City**”), portends large-scale ramifications on all zoning ordinances, not just within the City, but across the State of South Carolina and the United States. The Order incorrectly extends the Dormant Commerce Clause power and undermines decades of precedent that (1) favors the exercise of the inherent police power of a municipality to engage in zoning for the public welfare without judicial interference; (2) requires the presumption of the constitutionality of a municipality’s zoning plans; (3) instructs courts not to use the Dormant Commerce Clause as a “roving license” to decide what activities are appropriate for local governments to undertake and what activities must be the province of private market competition; and (4) holds a local law does not violate the Dormant Commerce Clause and is not discriminatory where it has incidental negative effects on some out-of-state market participants and does not reduce or curtail access to interstate markets.

Respondents are entities that own and/or are affiliated with a recreational vehicle (“**RV**”) resort located in Conway, South Carolina (“**RV Resort**”). Their RV Resort is located

approximately fifteen miles from the special exception cabana house they desire to use to shuttle their guests back-and-forth to the beach in North Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. The City's zoning ordinances at issue prohibit Respondents from owning this one particular type of special exception—i.e., a cabana house—found within one specific zoning district out of approximately twenty different zoning districts within the entire City—i.e., the City's R-4 Resort Residential District. Respondents challenged these ordinances under the Dormant Commerce Clause and the Circuit Court's Order found certain portions of the City's ordinances are unconstitutional under this clause. However, the City's ordinances merely regulate a noneconomic activity, which does not substantially affect interstate commerce. Further, the City's ordinances do not exclude Respondents from operating within the City or shuttling their guests to and from the City; instead, they merely regulate wherein the City that operation can be conducted, as all zoning plans generally do. This Court should therefore reverse the Circuit Court's Order, overturn the unjustified expansion of the Dormant Commerce Clause, and protect longstanding policy of upholding municipal authority and interests in exercising the inherent municipal police power to engage in zoning for the public welfare.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. The City's Zoning Purposes, Generally

The City is a tourist destination. About 20 million visitors come to the Grand Strand annually, with about 100,000 tourists visiting the City each day during the 100 days of summer. (R. at 1053, ll. 11–16.) The City has a nine-mile beachfront with 2,100 parking spaces and well over 100 public beach access points, 14 of which have bathroom facilities. (R. at 1227, l. 8 – R. at 1228, l. 21.) The City has approximately 20,000 permanent residents. (R. at 1054, ll. 5–7.) The City must “strike a balance” between protecting the quality of life of residents and fostering a

healthy, safe, accessible, and vibrant tourism environment. (R. at 1056, l. 19 – R. at 1057, l. 2.) In order to do that, the City utilizes a zoning plan, like virtually every other municipality in the United States, but which is especially important than in a tourist town.

The City’s general purposes underlying its zoning ordinances are: “to guide development in accordance with existing and future needs and to promote the public health, safety, morals, convenience, order, appearance, prosperity, and general welfare of the community.” (R. at 1647.)

The City also gives reasonable consideration for the following specific purposes:

- 1) To provide for adequate light, air, and open space;
- 2) To prevent the overcrowding of land, to avoid undue concentration of population, and to lessen congestion in the streets;
- 3) To facilitate the creation of a convenient, attractive, and harmonious community;
- 4) To protect and preserve scenic, historic, or ecologically sensitive areas;
- 5) To regulate the density and distribution of populations and the uses of buildings, structures and land for trade, industry, residence, recreation, . . . water supply, sanitation, protection against floods, public activities, and other purposes;
- 6) To facilitate the adequate provision or availability of transportation, police and fire protection, water, sewage, schools, parks, and other recreational facilities, affordable housing, disaster evacuation, and other public services and requirements specified in the ordinance;
- 7) To secure safety from fire, flood, and other dangers; and
- 8) To further the public welfare in any other specified regard.

(R. at 1647.) The City’s zoning ordinance recognizes that the City’s “economy is dependent on the retail and service industries supported by tourism,” and as such, the City’s further objective is “to encourage the future growth in tourism in an orderly fashion *without compromising the character of residential areas* or the natural environmental assets so important to tourist attraction.” (R. at 1647 (emphasis added).) The City’s witnesses testified to the importance of pursuing these zoning goals as well, because without zoning, there would be “total chaos” and a

“Wild, Wild West” would exist. (R. at 1055, l. 11 – R. at 1057, l. 2.)

B. The City’s R-4 Resort Residential District

The City utilizes approximately twenty different zoning districts, ranging from residential ones to commercial ones, which regulate the intensity of use within those districts. One residential district is named the R-4 Resort Residential District, which has as its purpose:

to provide for the orderly development of certain areas within the community where both year-round and seasonal or resort housing may be developed and where, because of proximity to the ocean, such “mixed development” would promote year-round use of public facilities, and permit housing choices in response to market demands, but not at the expense of ocean visibility and access by the community.

(R. at 1660.) The City elicited testimony as to the importance of these purposes as well. (R. at 1203, l. 10 – R. at 1205, l. 5.)

The permitted uses within the R-4 Resort Residential District are: (a) dwellings, such as single-family detached, semi-detached, patio homes, duplexes and multiplexes, and townhouses, amongst others; (b) hotels, motels, inns, and lodges; (c) accessory uses customarily incidental to dwellings; (d) accessory uses customarily included in hotels, motels, inns, and lodges; and (e) parking lots. (R. at 1660.) Any owner with property located in the R-4 Resort Residential District may use said property in accordance with these permitted uses by right. In other words, an owner may use property in the manner outlined without having to seek review or approval from the City’s Zoning Administrator or Board of Zoning Appeals.

C. Cabana Houses as Special Exceptions in the R-4 Resort Residential District

In or around January 1996, the City promulgated ordinances to permit a new use category called “cabana houses” as a special exception in the R-4 Resort Residential District within the

City. Use of property as a special exception is different than a use permitted by right.¹ Special exceptions, including cabana houses, require approval by the Board of Zoning Appeals “[o]wing to *their potential negative impact* on the community and surrounding areas.” (R. at 1662.)

The City’s Code of Ordinances defines a “cabana house” as:

A structure utilizing single-family design and development standards in close proximity to the oceanfront to be used by *projects in North Myrtle Beach* not located near the ocean. . . . A cabana house shall be *owned and maintained by a homeowner’s association* with a maintenance agreement submitted and approved by the planning department.

(R. at 1658 (emphasis added).) Cabana houses, as special exceptions, are subject to additional use restrictions within the City’s Code of Ordinances, including:

1. That a *homeowner’s association shall have been established for the project* and a maintenance agreement has been submitted to the planning department.
. . .
3. That the use of the house be limited to bathing and change of clothing facilities, and occasional use as guest quarters and other similar uses.
4. That the special exception will be in substantial harmony with the area in which it is to be located.
5. That the special exception will not be injurious to the adjoining property.²

(R. at 1662–63 (emphasis added).) Respondents are not challenging these use restrictions, except to the extent they require a homeowner’s association to be established for the project. Of note, for *over twenty years*, these ordinances regulating cabana houses went unchallenged.

¹ Another category of use, known as an accessory use, is defined within the City’s ordinances: “A subordinate use which is incidental to and customary in connection with the principal building or use and which is located on the same lot with such principal building or use.” (R. at 1648.)

² These additional use requirements in subparagraphs 3., 4., and 5. will be referred to herein as “Additional Use Requirements,” but they are not at issue in this appeal as the Circuit Court ruled these “are constitutional and fully enforceable.” (R. at 42.)

D. Respondents' Ownership and Use of the Cabana House

The land commonly referred to and designated as Lot 1, Block 18-A, Tilghman, located in the City at 1814 North Ocean Boulevard, North Myrtle Beach, South Carolina 29582 (the “**Property**”), is subject to the City’s Code of Ordinances. A structure originally designed and approved as a cabana house (“**Cabana House**”) is located on the Property. The Property was approved for use as a special exception cabana house in 2007 via an application from Seabrook Plantation, LLC, a developer of the Seabrook Plantation development project located within the City. (R. at 1736.)

Sun Carolina Pines RV, LLC is the owner and operator of the RV Resort located in Conway, South Carolina. The land for its RV Resort was purchased in 2017 and a groundbreaking occurred in 2018. The RV Resort contains 829 transient sites and 159 annual sites for long-term guests. (R. at 1909.) The RV Resort operates and maintains over 30 on-site amenities. (R. at 1813–52.) The RV Resort hosts a number of events on-site and offer a restaurant/bar and food service, utilities and bathing areas, gyms, an arcade room, mini-golf, a bowling alley, indoor and outdoor pools, a water playground, and other recreational and entertainment amenities; indeed, Respondents’ own witness testified they do not have to rely on the Cabana House for its business and Respondents have marketed to their guests that they “never have to leave if [they] don’t want to.” (R. at 1494, l. 17 – R. at 1495, l. 21; R. at 1902.) The RV Resort also shuttles guests to other points of interest in the community, including the Tanger Outlets, Downtown Conway, Broadway at the Beach, and Top Golf. (R. at 1560, l. 10 – R. at 1561, l. 5; R. at 1857–69.)

In the spring of 2019, the Property and Cabana House was sold from a prior owner to an entity affiliated with Respondents, which then assigned it to Sun TRS Ocean Club, LLC, who is the owner of the Property. (R. at 1746–90; R. at 1811–12.) Its ownership and Respondents’

collective use of the Cabana House for the benefit of the RV Resort are at issue in this action. Respondents' ownership and use of the Property was and is materially different than the ownership and use by the prior owners of the Property, including the original owner who obtained approval to use the Property for a special exception cabana house.

Respondents' use of the Cabana House does not meet any of the permitted uses under Section 23-22 of the City's Code of Ordinances as they are not a project located inside the City and they do not operate as a homeowner's association. Instead, Respondents attempted to use the Property as a cabana house, i.e., as an amenity for shuttling their RV Resort guests to and from the beach and for use of the Cabana House pool, much like it shuttles guests to other tourist destinations described above. The Cabana House is merely one of several destinations the RV Resort will shuttle its guests. However, the shuttling of guests to the Cabana House *only* occurred during the summer months—in other words, it never operated as a year-round amenity. Moreover, at the time of the RV Resort groundbreaking in 2018 and at all times prior to discovering the Cabana House was for sale, Respondents intended to shuttle their RV Resort guests to and from public beach access points rather than purchasing beachfront property to use as a private amenity. (R. at 1393, ll. 7–22.) Respondents never separately charged their guests for shuttle services and access to the Cabana House; indeed, Respondents used the Cabana House as a free amenity in that regard.³ (R. at 1495, ll. 10–24.)

Notably, Respondents admitted to knowing of the City's zoning ordinances that are at issue

³ On a number of occasions, Respondents used the Cabana House to host events for charge, which involved serving food and beverage, including alcohol. Respondents' use of the Cabana House in this manner was conducted without a business license issued by the City for the Property and their service of alcohol on the Property was conducted without an alcohol permit issued by the South Carolina Department of Revenue. The Circuit Court's Order held that Respondents had "knowingly violated the [Additional Use Requirements] of the City's Zoning Ordinance on numerous occasions." (R. at 41–42.) However, these violations are not directly at issue in this appeal.

in this case *prior* to their purchase of and use of the Cabana House. (R. at 1732–35.) Despite this knowledge, Respondents acquired the Cabana House, and failed to apply for authorization to own and use the Property pursuant to the special exception use for cabana houses under Section 23-22 of the City’s Code of Ordinances. Respondents never applied for authorization to own and use the Property pursuant to the special exception use for cabana houses under Section 23-22 of the City’s Code of Ordinances. (R. at 1490, ll. 5–10.)

In the preliminary stages of this litigation, Respondents consented to the closure of the Cabana House, pursuant to Consent Order Regarding Use of Subject Property, which was entered by the Circuit Court on January 11, 2022 (“**Consent Order**”). (R. at 1–2.) The General Manager of the RV Resort in the fall of 2021 was terminated, and an interview process for a new General Manager occurred around the time of the entry of the Consent Order. Respondents have alleged the Cabana House is an important amenity, but the record indicates they did not even inform their incoming General Manager of the closure of the Cabana House—not at any time in the three-month interview process nor before she was hired and arrived on-site; instead, she found out on her own only after she had arrived. (R. at 1571, l. 19 – R. at 1573, l. 1.)

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Respondents’ use of the Cabana House resulted in the City receiving a lengthy complaint in July 2021, which was submitted by neighboring residential communities, Sea Cloisters I and Sea Cloisters II, and outlined the aforementioned violations and more. (R. at 1877–95.) In August 2021, following receipt of the aforementioned complaint, the City Manager attempted one or more phone calls and e-mails to the general manager of the RV Resort, in order to discuss the ordinance violations and attempt to resolve the issues informally. (R. at 1577, l. 4 – R. at 1578, l. 7.) After the City Manager’s attempts to contact the RV Resort’s general manager went ignored, the City

Manager directed a cease and desist letter to be sent. (R. at 1900.) On September 2, 2021, a cease and desist letter was submitted to the RV Resort. (R. at 1951–52.) Having received no substantive response to this cease and desist letter over the next two months, the City instituted this action on November 11, 2021.⁴ (R. at 48–56.) The City’s sole cause of action was for a declaratory judgment seeking a ruling that Respondents’ ownership and use of the Cabana House was in violation of the applicable zoning ordinances. Respondents answered on December 20, 2021, without alleging any counterclaims. (R. at 57–64.) On March 14, 2022, Respondents amended their answer by alleging five separate counterclaims: (1) unconstitutionality of the City’s zoning ordinances under the Commerce Clause; (2) unconstitutionality of the same under the Due Process Clause⁵; (3) unconstitutionality of the same under the Equal Protection Clause⁶; (4) a violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983; and (5) an inverse condemnation and/or regulatory taking. (R. at 65–88.)

On August 1, 2022, Respondents filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, on the basis of their Commerce Clause counterclaim, which was briefed by all parties and heard on November 16, 2022. (R. at 113–16.) In a Form 4 Order of November 18, 2022, the Circuit Court denied Respondents’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. at 3–5.) The Form 4 Order was followed by a more fulsome Order of November 28, 2022, in which the Circuit Court did not rule upon the pure matter of law in whether the City’s ordinances were facially discriminatory, but instead stated “a more comprehensive factual record is desirable to fairly determine the appropriate result.” (R. at 6–10.)

On May 22, 2023, Respondents filed a Renewed Motion for Partial Summary Judgment,

⁴ Sea Cloisters I and II also sent a similar complaint directly to the RV Resort, and did not receive a response to this complaint either. (R. at 1896–99.)

⁵ At trial, Respondents informed the Circuit Court that they were not going to present evidence on their Due Process Clause counterclaim. (R. at 844, l. 18 – R. at 845, l. 13.)

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