RECEIVED

Oct 21 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000144
Case No. 2021-CP-26-07489

City of North Myrtle Beach,

Appellant,

v.

Sun TRS Ocean Club, LLC,
Sun TRS Carolina Pines,
LLC, and Sun Carolina Pines
RV, LLC,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

John G. Tamasitis (S.C. Bar No. 101875)
jtamasitis@williamsmullen.com
Richard H. Willis (S.C. Bar No.: 6159)
rwillis@williamsmullen.com
WILLIAMS MULLEN
1230 Main Street, Suite 330
Columbia, SC 29201
(T): 803-567-4600
(F): 803-567-4601

Attorneys for Respondents

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

beach access through their cabana houses, to a national customer market. All were determined by the City to be uses consistent and in substantial harmony with the R-4 District.

²⁰ Indeed, Mr. Wood candidly acknowledged at trial that the restriction against non-local projects from ownership of a cabana house in the R-4 District is exclusionary “on its face.” (R. p. 1258, lines 1–6).

participating altogether. And the City will not grant a special exception to own a cabana house unless the cabana house is owned and operated exclusively by a local homeowners' association for a project in the City. The natural and fully intended consequence is that only residents of the City may participate in the market to own and use a cabana house in the R-4 District.

The City's representatives acknowledged on multiple occasions that an RV Resort is encompassed by the term "project." (R. p. 1235, line 18–p. 1236, line 12). Hotels, times shares, condominium associations, residential developments that consist of short-term rental properties located in the City, and RV Resorts located outside of the City that participate in the short-term vacation rental market, are "substantially similar." *Davis*, 553 U.S. at 342 (explaining that the only form of discrimination that implicates the dormant Commerce Clause is discrimination between "substantially similar entities"). All are private entities, not public entities carrying out traditional government functions. *See id.* at 341–43. And all seek to compete in the highly competitive market for recreational access to the South Carolina coastline. *See Gen. Motors Corp. v. Tracy*, 519 U.S. 278, 299 (1997).

Non-local projects want to offer the same private beach access services to the same customers in the same locations as projects located within the City. The only difference between them, and the one emphasized by the residency requirement, is that one group does not reside in North Myrtle Beach. Accordingly, the residency requirement set forth in sections 23-2 and 23-22 directly discriminates against interstate commerce.

A recently decided case out of the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals involving a licensing regime under New Orleans' zoning ordinance is particularly instructive on the nature of the restrictions before the Court. In *Hignell-Stark*, homeowners who sought to operate short term rentals ("STRs") and the company providing services for STR owners brought a Section 1983

claim against the City of New Orleans, alleging, *inter alia*, violations of the dormant Commerce Clause, based on the city’s ordinance requiring licenses to operate STRs. 46 F.4th at 321–22. In 2016, the city decided to offer licenses to property owners to rent their homes for less than thirty (30) days. *Id.* at 321. One year into the initial licensing regime, the city commissioned a study to reevaluate its STR policies and found that the rapid proliferation of STRs brought nuisances to the city. *Id.* Specifically, it discovered that STRs in residential neighborhoods “had lowered residents’ quality of life.” *Id.* The study also determined that expansion of STRs into residential neighborhoods led to “a loss of neighborhood character,” and it collected “anecdotal evidence” that the increasing STR market had made housing less affordable to residents. *Id.* Because of the study, the city revised its STR licensing regime in 2019 and imposed a local residency requirement for STRs in residential neighborhoods. *Id.* The policy provided that no person could obtain a license to own an STR unless the property was also “the owner’s primary residence.” *Id.*

On appeal, the Fifth Circuit analyzed the district court’s ruling that, although the residency requirement in the new licensing regime discriminated against interstate commerce, the policy was constitutional because the burden it imposed was not “clearly excessive in relation to the putative local benefits.” *Id.* at 322 (citing *Pike v. Bruce Church, Inc.*, 397 U.S. 137, 142 (1970)). The Fifth Circuit disagreed, explaining that the *Pike* test did not apply to an ordinance that discriminated by its very terms between local and non-local market participants. *Id.* at 325.

The Fifth Circuit further explained that because the residency requirement in the new licensing regime discriminated against interstate commerce, it was in “big trouble because ‘a discriminatory law is virtually *per se* invalid.’” *Id.* (quoting *Davis*, 553 U.S. at 338). The Fifth Circuit held that the residency requirement discriminated on its face against non-local property owners because it forbade them from participating in the STR market in residential neighborhoods

altogether²¹ and even though the city did not adopt the residency requirement to protect its residents from interstate competition, “the dormant Commerce Clause prohibits more than laws with protectionist purposes. It also prohibits laws that discriminate against interstate commerce on their face.” *Id.* at 325–327 (citation omitted). According to the Fifth Circuit, “the purpose of, or justification for, a law has no bearing on whether it is facially discriminatory.” *Id.* at 327 (quoting *Or. Waste Sys., Inc. v. Dep’t of Env’t Quality of Or.*, 511 U.S. 93, 100 (1994)).

As the trial court correctly determined, the same is true here. The City’s residency requirement with respect to limiting the ownership of cabana houses to homeowners’ associations for “projects” located in the City cannot be saved by legitimate municipal purposes. Regardless of the “purpose of, or justification for” the restriction, it has “no bearing on whether it is facially discriminatory.” *Id.* at 327. Because the residency requirement at issue directly discriminates against interstate commerce on its face—by forbidding non-local homeowners’ associations for projects outside the City from participating in the market to utilize a cabana house in the City within the R-4 District—it is *per se* invalid.

Significantly, section 23-2 provides that a cabana house must be owned by a local homeowners’ association. Section 23-22(4)(d)(1) provides, in relevant part, that a homeowners’ association must be established for the local project utilizing the cabana house. Consistent with the trial court’s conclusion, the homeowners’ association requirement is inextricably linked to the

²¹ In *Hignell-Stark*, the Fifth Circuit rejected the city’s argument that the ordinance allowed out-of-staters to own short-term rentals in **nonresidential** neighborhoods because “even if the residency requirement merely imposes a discriminatory burden on interstate commerce, it still qualifies as discriminatory.” 46 F.4th 317, 327 (5th Cir. 2022). The City here has made the same unavailing argument with respect to beachfront cabana houses in other areas outside of the R-4 District. (App.’s Br., pp. 26–28).

project's geographic restriction and violates the dormant Commerce Clause in the same way. (R. p. 38).

Under South Carolina's Homeowners' Association Act, a homeowners' association governing documents must be recorded in the Register of Deeds office in the county where the property owned by the association is located. S.C. Code Ann. § 27-30-130(A)(1). In its effect, the homeowners' association requirement in both sections 23-2 and 23-22 of the Zoning Ordinance violates the dormant Commerce Clause because it requires the ownership of the cabana house and the administration of the "project" using the cabana house to be located and registered in Horry County, South Carolina (pursuant to the statutes) because the subject property and associated project must necessarily be located in North Myrtle Beach. This precludes a non-local homeowners' association from owning a cabana house or establishing a "project" outside the City to access a cabana house, and plainly discriminates against interstate commerce in both its practical and legal effect.

In response to Interrogatories propounded by Respondents regarding the purpose behind the geographical ownership restrictions set forth in Sections 23-2 and 23-22 of the Zoning Ordinance, the City stated: "This requirement operates to encourage and support local, private developments and their corresponding homeowners' associations (as opposed to non-local, corporate enterprises) by providing them with a private beach club and access point to the beach. It also encourages investment in the City rather than in projects outside of the City." (R. p. 2665). This candid explanation of the purpose behind the residency requirement, coupled with the City's

repeated testimony at trial acknowledging the explanation undermines the City’s arguments on appeal.

The City expressly admits that one of the purposes behind these restrictions is economic protectionism—to incentivize investment in the City while restricting or outright prohibiting ownership and use from outside the City. *Dean Milk*, 340 U.S. at 354. Incentivizing local commerce at the expense of interstate commerce is one of the chief evils the Commerce Clause seeks to prevent and renders the challenged portions of the Zoning Ordinance unconstitutional. *See Carbone*, 511 U.S. at 390.

The City also acknowledges an economic interest in ensuring that visitors to the City decide to stay in accommodations located in the City. If the City were to allow the RV Resort in Conway to have access to a cabana house, it would eliminate an important reason for tourists to stay within the City limits. The result is that the City is unable to collect the accommodation taxes that would have been paid by those seeking lodging within the City. (R. p. 1253, line 15–p. 1254, line 7). Consequently, the residency requirement limiting ownership of a cabana house promotes financial investment within the City, to the exclusion of non-local entities. Avoiding this sort of “economic Balkanization” is one of the central purposes of the dormant Commerce Clause. *Hughes*, 441 U.S. at 325.

- B. The City failed to preserve its three-part ordinance and severability arguments for this Court’s review.

On appeal, the City now argues for the first time that there is a project requirement and two separate and distinct homeowners’ association requirements in sections 23-2 and 23-22 (as opposed to the one, singular requirement that the City advocated up to and throughout trial). (App.’s Br., pp. 41–45). To the extent the City asserts any argument relating to the severability of ordinances into three distinct parts, these arguments are not properly before this Court. Both were

raised for the first time in the City’s post-trial motion to reconsider, and thus were not preserved for appeal. *See Repko*, 424 S.C. at 502, 818 S.E.2d at 748.

Second, the trial court did properly find that the project requirement and the homeowners’ association requirement were inextricably linked. Using the rules of statutory interpretation,²² coupled with the City’s own testimony, the trial court appropriately determined that the project and homeowners’ association requirements have to be read together to understand the purpose and intent of the ordinance. According to the City’s own interpretation and application of the Zoning Ordinance, section 23-2 requires that a cabana house must be used exclusively by projects in North Myrtle Beach (and their guests), that a homeowners’ association must be established for the project, and the cabana house must be owned and maintained by a local homeowners’ association. (R. p. 1234, line 12–p. 1235, line 20; p. 1274, line 18–p. 1276, line 11).

In the middle of the trial, in an effort to rescue the homeowners’ association requirement, the City suggested that perhaps the homeowners’ association identified in sections 23-2 and 23-22 did not have to be located within the City. The City’s counsel posed this novel theory to Mr. Wood in a candid moment on the stand during re-direct examination. (R. p. 1270, line 13–p.1271, line 7). However, on re-cross examination, Mr. Wood clarified that it was “probably an assumption [from City Council] that the homeowners association would be within the City in addition to the project . . .” (R. p. 1276, lines 6–10). Indeed, Mr. Wood explained that he had to try and “imagine a scenario” where the homeowners’ association identified in sections 23-2 and 23-22 “could be

²² “The legislature’s intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute.” *Jones v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 364 S.C. 222, 230, 612 S.E.2d 719, 723 (Ct. App. 2005). “[T]he text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.” *Id.* at 231, 612 S.E.2d at 724. The language must be read to harmonize with its subject matter and in accord with its general purpose. *Id.* at 230, 612 S.E.2d at 723. The court’s primary function in interpreting a statute is to determine the intent of the legislature. *Smith v. South Carolina Ins. Co.*, 350 S.C. 82, 87, 564 S.E.2d 358, 361 (Ct. App. 2002).

based outside the City.” (R. p. 1275, lines 1–8). Unfortunately, such an imagined scenario is unavailable to the City on appeal, and it was never fully explained in its brief.

For the purposes of clarity, Respondents submit the following summary of this analysis:

- Section 23-2 of the Zoning Ordinance requires that a cabana house must be used by a project in North Myrtle Beach not located near the ocean.
 - The City testified repeatedly that the cabana house must be used exclusively by this North Myrtle Beach-based project. (R. p. 1234, line 12–p. 1235, line 2).
- Section 23-22(4)(d)(1) of the Zoning Ordinance requires that a homeowners’ association must be established for the local project.
 - The City testified that sections 23-2 and 23-22 refer to one homeowners’ association (i.e., there is not a second homeowners’ association that owns the cabana house, there is only one homeowners’ association, and it is established both for the “project” and owns the cabana house). (R. p. 1275, lines 9–13).
- Section 23-2 of the Zoning Ordinance states that a cabana house must be owned by that same homeowners’ association that was established by the North Myrtle Beach-project.
 - The City testified at trial that it was probably an assumption by City Council when it enacted the residency requirement that the homeowners’ association would also be located within the city limits, along with the project. (R. p. 1276, lines 6–10).
- Under South Carolina’s Homeowners’ Association Act, the homeowners’ association governing documents must be recorded in the Register of Deeds office in Horry County because that is where the property owned by the association (either the project or the cabana house) is located. S.C. Code Ann. § 27-30-130(A)(1).

The homeowners’ association associated with the cabana house has to be located in North Myrtle Beach because the “project” and the cabana house must also be located in North Myrtle Beach. Any homeowners’ association comprised of properties located outside of the city limits cannot comply with the residency requirement. Indeed, as stated above, the City’s own designee testified at trial that he tried, but was unable, to “imagine a scenario where [the applicable] homeowners association could be based outside the City.” (R. p. 1275, lines 1–8).

Thus, as the Court correctly concluded in its Order, “the homeowners’ association requirement in both sections 23-2 and 23-22 of the Zoning Ordinance violates the dormant Commerce Clause because it requires the ownership of the cabana house . . . to be located and registered in Horry County (pursuant to the statutes) because the subject property . . . must be located in North Myrtle Beach.” (R. p. 38).

Additionally, the City appears to argue a severability analysis with respect to the residency requirement. However, the trial court’s Order already ruled that “all other provisions of the City’s Zoning Ordinance are constitutional and fully enforceable,” thereby severing the residency requirement espoused in sections 23-2 and 23-22 from the rest of the Zoning Ordinance. (R. p. 42). Thus, it is not clear what severability argument the City is now making on appeal.

However, to the extent the City is now arguing that the residency requirement can also be severed in such a way so as to preserve parts of the residency requirement, as it relates to homeowners’ associations affiliated with the North Myrtle Beach-project, that argument was never raised to the trial court and is being raised for the first time on appeal. Therefore, it is not preserved for this Court’s review. *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 465, 719 S.E.2d at 642.

III. THE CITY FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT ITS STATED MUNICIPAL INTERESTS SERVED BY THE “RESIDENCY REQUIREMENT” IN SECTIONS 23-2 AND 23-22 OF THE CITY’S ZONING ORDINANCE ADVANCE A LEGITIMATE LOCAL PURPOSE THAT CANNOT BE ADEQUATELY SERVED BY OTHER REASONABLE NON-DISCRIMINATORY ALTERNATIVES.

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